A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Joshua Cargill committed the crime of attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle. 

2. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument violated Mr. 

Cargill's constitutional right to a fair trial. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State 

proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. 

Const. amend. XIV. The driver of a vehicle commits the crime of 

attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle ifhe fails or refuses to 

immediately bring his vehicle to a stop after being signaled to stop by a 

uniformed police officer and drives in a reckless manner while 

attempting to elude a pursing marked police vehicle. RCW 

46.61.024( 1). 

a. Mr. Cargill immediately pulled over when he was 

signaled to do so by a marked police vehicle's lights. An essential 

element of the crime of eluding is that the defendant "willfully fails or 

refuses to immediately bring his or her vehicle to a stop." RCW 

46.61.024(a). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 



State, must Mr. Cargill's conviction for attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle be dismissed in the absence of proof that he willfully 

failed or refused to stop? 

b. Mr. Cargill drove away after he stopped for officer, 

but no police vehicle pursued him. An essential element of the crime 

of eluding is that the defendant drive his vehicle "in a reckless manner 

while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle." RCW 

46.61.024( 1). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

State, must Mr. Cargill's conviction for attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle be dismissed in the absence of proof of eluding a 

pursuing police vehicle? 

2. The accused has the constitutional right to a fair trial, and a 

prosecutor's improper arguments may violate that right. U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The prosecutor committed 

misconduct in closing argument by arguing facts not in evidence and 

misrepresented the facts in a manner that appealed to the jurors' fears 

and prejudices. Must Mr. Cargill's conviction be reversed where the 

prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument was so flagrant and ill

intentioned that it could not have been cured by timely objections and 

curative instructions? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Arlington Police Officer Michael Sargent was alerted by an off-

duty detective that Joshua Cargill, who had outstanding warrants for his 

arrest, was leaving the Walmart store on 172nd Street in a green Honda. 

lRP 31-33, 36, 38-41.1 Officer Sargent saw the Honda east-bound on 

172nd Street, and he signaled the car's driver to pull over using the 

emergency lights on his marked SUV. lRP 37-38, 40-41. Mr. Cargill 

immediately stopped the Honda on the shoulder of 51 st Street. lRP 42-

43, 50-51. It was the afternoon, and traffic was congested. lRP 40, 41-

42. 

Officer Sargent approached the Honda with his gun drawn. lRP 

44. He saw Mr. Cargill in the driver' s seat and a woman in the 

passenger seat. lRP 39, 45. The uniformed officer told Mr. Cargill 

that he was under arrest and ordered him to turn his car off and put his 

hands out the window. lRP 38, 5-46. Mr. Cargill pointed out that 

there was a child in the backseat, and Officer Sargent holstered his 

weapon. 1 RP 46. Mr. Cargill then drove away northbound on 51 st. 

I The verbatim report of proceedings contains five volumes. The verbatim 
report of the trial referred to by the volume number provided by the court reporter: 

1 RP = November 25, 2013 (marked Vol. I) 
2RP = November-26, 2013 (marked Vol. II) 

The sentencing hearing on December 11,2013, is referred to by date, and other volumes 
are not cited. 
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1 RP 46. According to the officer, Mr. Cargill was driving fast and was 

using the southbound lane. 1 RP 46-47. 

Officer Sargent did not try to catch Mr. Cargill's car; his 

sergeant told him to "terminate" any pursuit. lRP 48-49. Instead he 

followed Mr. Cargill slowly for about 20 blocks in order to observe his 

driving and direction of travel. lRP 49-50. Officer Sargent opined 

that Mr. Cargill was driving at a "high rate of speed" and "was weaving 

in and out oflanes" on the two-lane road. lRP 43, 50. The officer also 

stopped and checked with motorists who had pulled to the side of the 

road to make sure there had not been any accidents. lRP 50. No one 

reported any injury or accidents. lRP 53. 

The Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney charged Mr. 

Cargill with attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle with an 

aggravating factor that one or more people, other than the defendant or 

the officer, were threatened with physical injury or harm by the 

defendant's actions. CP 164; RCW 46.61.024(1); RCW 9.94A.834. 

He was convicted as charged after a jury trial and given a sentence of 

29 months and 1 day in prison consecutive to an earlier DOSA 

sentence. CP 20,100-01; 12/11113 RP 10. Mr. Cargill appeals, and the 

State cross-appeals. CP 1-15. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt 
that Mr. Cargill committed the crime of attempting to 
elude a pursuing police vehicle. 

a. The State was required to prove every element of the 

attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle beyond a reasonable 

doubt. The Due Process Clause protects the accused from conviction 

unless the State proves every element of the crime beyond a reasonable 

doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 

368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. On appellate review, the court 

determines whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found 

the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. 

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); 

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22,616 P.2d 628 (1980). 

Mr. Cargill was convicted of attempting to elude a pursuing 

police vehicle, RCW 46.61.024. CP 101, 164. The statute reads: 

Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails or 
refuses to immediately bring his vehicle to a stop and who 
drives his vehicle in a reckless manner while attempting to 
elude a pursuing police vehicle, after being given a visual 
or audible signal to bring the vehicle to a stop, shall be 
guilty of a class C felony. The signal give by the police 
officer may be by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren. 
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The officer giving the signal shall be in unifom1 and his 
vehicle shall be equipped with lights and sirens. 

RCW 46.61.024(1). 

Three essential elements of the crime "must occur in sequence." 

State v. Stayton, 39 Wn. App. 46,49,691 P.2d 596 (1984), rev. denied, 

103 Wn.2d 1026 (1985); accord Seth A. Fine & Douglas J. Ende, 13 

Wash. Prac., Criminal Law With Sentencing Forms, § 2204 (2013-14 

ed). First, a uniformed police officer with a vehicle equipped with 

lights and sirens must give a signal to a driver to bring the vehicle to a 

stop. Second, the driver must willfully fail to immediately stop. 

Finally, the driver must drive his vehicle in a reckless manner while 

attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. RCW 46.61.024( 1); see 

Stayton, 39 Wn. App. at 49-50 (interpreting prior version ofRCW 

46.61.024(1)); 13 Wash. Prac., § 2204. Mr. Cargill's conviction must 

be reversed because he immediately stopped his car after being 

signaled to do so, and because he was not attempting to elude a 

pursuing police vehicle when he drove away. 

b. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. 

Cargill refused or failed to immediately stop. An essential element of 

the crime of attempting to elude a pursing police vehicle is that the 
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defendant willfully failed or refused to immediately bring his vehicle to 

a stop. RCW 46.61.024(1); CP 111 (Instruction 7); State v. Tandecki, 

153 Wn.2d 842,848, 109 P.3d 398 (2005); State v. Perez, 166 Wn. 

App. 55, 61, 269 P.3d 372 (2012). 

Officer Sargent turned on his emergency lights to signal Mr. 

Cargill to pull over when Mr. Cargill was stopped at a red light at the 

intersection of 172nd and 51 st Streets. 1 RP 41-42. Mr. Cargill turned 

onto 52nd and pulled onto the shoulder as soon as possible. 1 RP 43, 51-

51. 

Mr. Cargill thus immediately brought his vehicle to a stop upon 

Officer Sargent's signal. His conviction must therefore be reversed in 

light of the State's failure to prove this element of the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

c. The State did not prove beyond a doubt that Mr. Cargill 

drove in a reckless manner in order to elude a pursing police vehicle. 

In addition, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that Mr. Cargill drove "in a reckless manner while attempting to elude a 

pursuing police vehicle." RCW 46.61.024(1). "[T]he expression 

'while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle' modifies only the 

element that specifies the criminal manner of driving which ensues 
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after the driver's willful failure to stop." Stayton, 39 Wn. App. at 50 

(emphasis omitted). The only reckless driving in this case occurred 

when Mr. Cargill was not being pursued by a police car. 

The State argued to the jury that Office Sargent was still 

pursuing Mr. Cargill even though he had terminated his pursuit and was 

not attempting to catch Mr. Cargill. 2RP 71, 79-80. Determining 

whether Mr. Cargill was attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle 

requires this Court to interpret the language ofRCW 46.61.024, 

specifically what is meant by a "pursuing police vehicle." 

Statutory interpretation is an issue of law reviewed de novo. 

State v. K.L.B., _ Wn.2d _,2014 WL 2895451 at *2 (No. 88270-

3,6/26/14). The court's primary duty in interpreting a statute is to 

"discern and implement the intent of the legislature." State v. J.P., 149 

Wn.2d 444,450,69 P.3d 318 (2003). 

The first step in statutory interpretation is to look at the plain 

language of the statute. K.L.B., 2014 WL 2895451 at *2; J.P., 149 

Wn.2d at 450. "If the statute is unambiguous, meaning it is subject to 

only one reasonable interpretation," the court's inquiry ends. K.L.B., 

2014 WL 2895451 at *2; accord J.P., 149 Wn.2d at 450. The court 

resorts to principles of statutory construction only if the statute is 
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ambiguous. State v. Armedariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 

(2007). 

The term "pursuing police vehicle" is not defined in the eluding 

statue or elsewhere in RCW Title 46.2 When words of a statute are not 

defined, they are given their common dictionary meaning. State v 

Pacheo, 125 Wn.2d 150,154,882 P.2d 183 (1994); State v. Argueta, 

107 Wn. App. 532, 536, 27 P.3d 242 (2001). Using the common 

meaning of pursuit, the record shows that Mr. Cargill was not being 

pursued by a police car when he drove in a reckless manner and thus 

did not do so in order to elude a pursuing police vehicle. 

"Pursue" means to chase or follow something, usually in order 

to catch it. Webster's Third New International Dictionary Unabridged, 

p. 1848 (1993) ("To follow with enmity; to follow usually 

determinedly in order to capture, kill or defeat.") Dictionary.com 

Unabridged3 (based upon the Random House Dictionary) ("to follow in 

order to overtake, capture, kill, etc.); World English Dictionary4 ("to 

follow (a fugitive, etc) in order to capture or overtake"). Black's Law 

Dictionary similarly defines "pursuit" as "the act of chasing to overtake 

2 "Vehicle" is defined at RCW 46.04.670. 
3 Found at http://dictionary.reference.com/borwse/puruse?s=ts. 
4 Found at http://dictionary.reference.com/borwse/puruse?s=ts. 
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or apprehend." Black's Law Dictionary, p. 574 (Second Pocket Ed. 

2001). 

The police officer's testimony was consistent with the common 

understanding of the term "pursuing police vehicle." Officer Sargent 

testified that after Mr. Cargill drove off, the officer's supervisor told 

him to terminate his pursuit. lRP 48-49, 56. Officer Sargent related 

that "terminate," means to "stop a pursuit." 2RP 49. The officer 

followed Mr. Cargill for several blocks, but was only documenting his 

direction of travel. The officer was not trying to catch up to Mr. 

Cargill. 2RP 49, 56. Instead, Officer Sargent checked on motorists 

pulled to the side of the road to determine if they were injured or 

involved in a collision. 2RP 49-50,54-55. Officer Sargent testified: 

Q: What's the difference between following and 
continuing to pursue the defendant? 

A: I was following to document his behavior. Also, in 
case a collision did happened, I would be able to be a 
first responder. Pursuing would be more I was 
aggressively trying to capture that individual. 

Q: And I believe you indicated on direct at that time you 
determined it was too dangerous to pursue? 

A: Correct. 

Q: That you terminated the pursuit? 

A: My sergeant terminated the pursuit. 
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2RP 56. 

Officer Sargent terminated his pursuit of Mr. Cargill as soon as 

Mr. Cargill drove away, and he made no attempt to stop or catch up to 

Mr. Cargill's vehicle. Thus, while Mr. Cargill may have driven in a 

reckless manner, there was no pursuing police vehicle. The State thus 

did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Cargill drove "while 

attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle." RCW 46.61.024(1). 

d. Mr. Cargill's conviction must be reversed. The defendant 

may not be convicted unless the evidence supports every element of the 

crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Cargill stopped immediately 

upon being signaled by a police vehicle to stop. When he then drove 

away from the stop in a reckless manner, there was no police vehicle 

chasing him. The State thus did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that Mr. Cargill failed to immediately stop or that he drove in a reckless 

manner in order to elude a pursuing police vehicle, two essential 

elements of the crime. Mr. Cargill's conviction for attempting to elude 

a pursuing police vehicle must be reversed and must be dismissed. See 

State v. Hudson, 85 Wn. App. 410, 405, 932 P.2d 714 (1997). 
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2. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument denied 
Mr. Cargill his constitutional right to a fair trial. 

In closing argument, the deputy prosecuting attorney 

exaggerated and misstated the evidence in a manner that prejudiced Mr. 

Cargill's case and violated his constitutional right to a fair trial. This 

misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned, and Mr. Cargill's 

conviction should therefore be reversed. 

a. Misconduct by the prosecutor may violate a defendant's 

constitutional right to a fair trial. A criminal defendant's right to due 

process of law protects the right to a fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. 

XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The prosecutor, as a quasi-judicial officer, has 

a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and 

based on reason. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78,88,55 S. Ct. 

629,79 L. Ed. 2d 1314 (1935); State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140,146-47, 

684 P.2d 699 (1984). Washington courts have long emphasized the 

prosecutor's obligation to ensure the defendant receives a fair trial and 

the resulting need for professional conduct in closing argument. State 

v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); Reed, 102 

Wn.2d at 146-49 (and cases cited therein); State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 

657,665, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). When a prosecutor commits 

misconduct in closing argument, the defendant's constitutional rights to 
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due process and a fair trial may be violated. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 

676; Charlton, 90 Wn.2d at 664-65. 

To determine if a prosecutor's comments or argument constitute 

misconduct, the reviewing court must first decide if the comments were 

improper and, if so, whether a "substantial likelihood" exits that the 

comments affected the jury verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 

760,278 P.3d 653 (2012). Where the defendant does not object to the 

improper argument, the reviewing court may still reverse the conviction 

if the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that the resulting 

prejudice could not have been cured with a limiting instruction. Id. at 

760-61. 

b. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing facts that 

were not in evidence. While a prosecutor is permitted to argue 

reasonable inferences from the evidence, he may not misstate the 

evidence or argue facts not admitted at trial. State v. Belgarde, 110 

Wn.2d 504, 507-08, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); RPC 3.4(e). In addition, the 

prosecutor may not argue in a manner that inflames the passions or 

prejudices of the jury. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 678; Belgarde, 110 

Wn.2d at 507-10; American Bar Association Criminal Law Section, 

Standards for Criminal Justice: Prosecution Function, Standard 3-5.8 
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(3rd ed. 1993). These two rules are "closely related ... because appeals 

to the jury's passion and prejudice are often based on matters outside 

the record." State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158, 

rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012) (citing Belgarde, supra, and State 

v. Claflin, 38 Wn. App. 847,850-51,690 P.2d 1186 (1984), rev. 

denied, 103 Wn.2d 1014 (1985» . The prosecutor violated these 

principles by misrepresenting the police officer's testimony and making 

unsupported assumptions about Mr. Cargill's state of mind. 

Eluding does not require specific intent to elude the police. 

RCW 46.61.024(1); State v. Gallegos, 73 Wn. App. 644, 650, 871 P.2d 

621 (1994). Instead, the State need only prove that the defendant 

willfully failed to stop and drove in a reckless manner while trying to 

elude. Id. The deputy prosecuting attorney, however, began his 

argument by informing the jury that Mr. Cargill knew he had warrants 

for his arrest and intentionally stopped his car so that he could escape 

and avoid arrest when the police officer got out of his car. 2RP 68-69. 

The prosecutor even asserted that Mr. Cargill intentionally used the 

child in his car "as a shield." 2RP 69. 

There is no evidence to support the prosecutor's speculation 

about Mr. Cargill's intent. There is no evidence that Mr. Cargill knew 
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of the arrest warrants. Nor was there any evidence that he stopped so 

that he could drive off when the officer was out ofthe car. Instead, the 

record shows that Mr. Cargill did not drive away until after the officer 

pulled his weapon and informed Mr. Cargill he was under arrest. lRP 

43-46. In addition, the officer was not aware of the child until Mr. 

Cargill mentioned the fact to him and the officer then holstered his 

weapon for safety. lRP 52. Officer Sargent did not testify he had any 

reason to believe Mr. Cargill was armed or dangerous. 

The prosecutor's argument, based upon his own negative 

assumptions about Mr. Cargill's thought process, was designed to make 

Mr. Cargill look like a dangerous criminal. The argument thus both 

appealed to the juror's fear and prejudices about criminals and people 

who endanger children and was not based upon reasonable inferences 

from the evidence. In Pierce, the prosecutor' closing argument 

included his own speculation about the defendant's thought process and 

a fabricated story about how the murder victims must have struggled 

and pleaded for mercy. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 537, 553-542. The 

prosecutor' s argument as to the defendant's thought process before the 

crimes was an "improper appeal to the passion and prejudice of the jury 

based on facts outside the evidence." Id. at 554. "[T]he prosecutor 
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inflamed the prejudice of the jury against Pierce by attributing 

repugnant and amoral thoughts to him - thoughts that were based on 

the prosecutor's speculation and not the evidence." rd. The prosecutor 

engaged in the same form of misconduct in Mr. Cargill's case. 

The prosecutor's inability to stay within the facts of the case is 

also seen in his assertions that Mr. Cargill's driving created a "path of 

destruction." 2RP 71, 79. The evidence produced at trial showed that 

no person or property was hurt as a result ofMr. Cargill's driving. 

Officer Sargent testified that several cars drove to the side of the road 

in order to avoid a collision with Mr. Cargill. lRP 47-48. The officer, 

however, checked with motorists who pulled over and none of them 

were hurt and no vehicles were damaged. lRP 50, 53. There was no 

"path of destruction." 

When arguing in favor of the aggravating factor, the prosecutor 

referred to the child in Mr. Cargill's car as "the baby" even though 

Officer Sargent estimated that the child in the vehicle was 

approximately 2-to-3 years old. lRP 46; 2RP 72. Like the 

prosecutor's discussion ofMr. Cargill's purported intent, the use of this 

deceptive word was designed to arouse the juror's prejudice against 

those who endanger young children. 
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The deputy prosecutor also misrepresented the evidence when 

he argued that Mr. Cargill was driving so fast that the police officer 

could not catch him. 2RP 78. In fact, Officer Sargent testified that he 

was not trying to catch Mr. Cargill at all. Instead, he followed Mr. 

Cargill determine his direction oftravel and to aid the motorists who 

had pulled for Mr. Cargill ifneeded. lRP 49-50, 56.

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