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

ARGUMENTS. 

The prosecutor argued the defendant intended to get away 

from Officer Sargent from the time he pulled in behind him with his 

lights flashing. He pointed out the things that blocked or stopped 

that get away; the motor home, the proximity of the officer's vehicle, 

the sidearm. He argued the defendant pointed out there was a 

child in the back of the vehicle to get Officer Sargent to holster his 

weapon. That in so doing, the defendant was using the child as a 

shield. As soon as the sidearm was holstered, the defendant put 

his car in gear and took off. 2RP 68-69. 

The prosecutor used the illustrative phrase "a path of 

destruction" to describe the vehicles forced to drive almost into the 

ditch to avoid being struck by the defendant in his flight. He pointed 

out that this driving continued for 20 blocks. 2RP 69. 

The prosecutor then argued from the "to convict" instruction 

pointing out the evidence that applied to each of the 6 elements he 
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had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. He emphasized the 

testimony that showed the defendant did not stop when directed 

and that he was being pursued by a police vehicle and the 

evidence supporting the additional allegation of endangerment by 

abuse. 2RP 69-72. 

The prosecutor referenced the child in the backseat five 

times in his argument. "He [the defendant] informs the officer that 

there's a child in the car. Uses that child as a shield, a distraction 

to make the officer holster his firearm." 2RP 69. "[The officer]Going 

to his supervisor, telling him that there is a 2 or 3 year old child in 

the back seat of the defendant's car." 2RP 70. "He [the defendant] 

didn't care about the 20 other cars that he drove off, his adult 

female passenger or that child in the back of his vehicle." 2RP 71-

72. "Not just those 20 other vehicles that were off the road, but 

specifically that baby that was in the back seat of his car." 2RP 72. 

In his rebuttal argument, the prosecutor again referenced the child 

stating, "He knew that Officer Sargent was pursuing him which is 

why he drove the way he did, recklessly, endangering people, 

endangering that child." 2RP 80. 
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The jury was instructed that the prosecutor's remarks were 

not evidence and to disregard any remark, statement, or argument 

that is not supported by the evidence. Jury instruction 1 CP 104. 

The defendant did not object to any statements made by the 

prosecutor during either of his closing arguments. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO 
SUPPORT THE CONVICTION OF ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE A 
PURSUING POLICE VEHICLE. 

Under the applicable standard of review, there will be 

sufficient evidence to affirm a criminal conviction if any rational trier 

of fact, viewing the evidence most favorably toward the State, could 

have found the essential elements of the charged crime were 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Kintz, 169 Wn .2d 537, 

551,238 P.3d 470 (2010); State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 347,68 

P.3d 282 (2003); State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 

1068 (1992). A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits 

the truth of the States' evidence. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201; State 

v. McPhee, 156 Wn. App. 44,62,230 P.3d 284, review denied, 169 

Wn.2d 1028 (2010); State v. Porter, 58 Wn. App. 57, 791 P.2d 905 

(1990). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be 

drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against 
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the defendant. State v. Hosier, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 

(2006); Salinas at 201; State v. Soderholm, 68 Wn. App. 363, 373, 

842 P.2d 1039 (1993). 

In testing the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court 

does not weigh the persuasiveness of the evidence. Rather, it 

defers to the trier of fact on issues involving conflicting testimony, 

credibility of witnesses, and the weight of the evidence. State v. 

Stewart, 141 Wn. App. 791, 795, 174 P.3d 111 (2007). Evidence 

favoring the defendant is not considered. State v. Randecker, 79 

Wn.2d 512,521,487 P.2d 1295 (1971). Credibility determinations 

are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. State v. Cantu, 

156 Wn.2d 819,831,132 P.3d 725 (2006). 

The elements the state was required to prove were set forth 

in the Court's instructions to the jury, instruction number 7. CP 111. 

In the case at bar, there is ample evidence upon which a 

rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence most favorably toward the 

State, could have found the essential elements of the charged 

crime were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The defendant challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence 

appears to hinge on the state not having shown the three essential 

elements of attempting to elude occurred in sequence. Appellant's 
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brief 6. The state had to prove that elements in the following 

sequence: 

First the defendant was given a signal to stop by a uniformed 

police officer with a vehicle equipped with emergency lights and 

siren. Id. There is no question that Officer Sargent was a uniformed 

police officer or that his vehicle was equipped with emergency 

lights and siren. Also, the facts show that Officer Sargent gave the 

defendant two separate signals to stop. Initially the signal was 

given when Officer Sargent activated his emergency lights. The 

defendant did temporarily stop. Officer Sargent never turned off his 

emergency lights, so the initial signal to stop was on-going 

throughout the incident. 

Officer Sargent gave the defendant another command to 

stop when he verbally told him not to do it in response to the 

defendant revving his engine and to turn off his engine and put his 

hands out the window. 

Second, the driver must willfully fail to immediately stop. In 

the case at bar, the defendant temporarily stopped, but did not 

remain stopped. The defendant seems to contend that this 

satisfied the requirement to immediately bring your vehicle to a 

stop. It would be defeat the purpose of the statute if a person could 
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momentarily bring their vehicle to a stop then speed away before 

the officer concluded the stop. Furthermore, Officer Sargent gave 

another signal to stop when he told the defendant to turn off his 

vehicle and put his hands out the window. Officer Sargent was 

obviously telling the defendant to stop. In a very similar case, 

sufficient evidence to support a convictions for attempting to elude 

a pursuing police vehicle was found when a driver stopped briefly 

for a patrol car's emergency lights but then accelerated at a deputy 

once the officers were out of their patrol car, then attempted to 

drive away. State v. Treat, 109 Wn. App. 419,35 P.3d 1192, 1196-

97 (2001). 

As in Treat, Officer Sargent gave the defendant verbal 

commands to stop his vehicle; the defendant disregarded those 

commands; and, drove away in a reckless manner. The defendant 

concedes his driving after the temporary stop was reckless. 

Appellant's brief at 8. 

The defendant asserts that after the defendant initially 

stopped, then drove away, he was no longer being pursued by a 

police car. Appellant's Brief at 8. This is contradicted by the 

defendant's argument at trial. In her closing argument, the 

defendant's trial attorney, in an attempt to explain the vehicles that 

10 



had to drive almost into the ditch said, "Officer Sargent testified that 

there were cars moving to the side, but he also testified he was 

following the vehicle with his emergency lights activated . Isn't it 

normal for someone to see an emergency vehicle coming at them 

to pull over to the side of the road?" 3RP 75. 

"[W]hile the eluding statute requires that the defendant elude 

a "pursuing police vehicle," it does not require that the police 

vehicle remain moving at all times. RCW 46.61.024. Thus, [the 

defendant] was attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle even 

though it had stopped and the deputies got out." Treat, 109 Wn. 

App. at 427. 

The evidence in this case is clear that Officer Sargent was 

still following the defendant in an attempt to apprehend him. A 

Police officer does not have to engage in the same aggressive, 

reckless driving as the defendant to be pursuing a fleeing vehicle. 

In the case at bar, Officer Sargent followed the defendant at a 

slower, safer speed down the narrow two lane road. While he was 

able to keep the defendant in sight, he was also using his radio to 

try to apprehend him by advising his fellow law enforcement officers 

of the defendant's movements and location. He had his emergency 

lights on as a clear signal to the defendant to stop. 
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B. THE PROSECUTOR APPROPRIATELY ARGUED THE 
FACTS AND LAW OF THIS CASE AND THEREBY THE 
DEFENDANT RECEIVED A FAIR TRIAL. 

In a prosecutorial error1 claim, the defendant bears the 

burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper 

and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 

653, 662 (2012). If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant 

must show that the prosecutor's error resulted in prejudice that had 

a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. But if, as here, 

the defendant failed to object at trial, the defendant is deemed to 

have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's conduct was so 

1 "'Prosecutorial misconduct' is a term of art but is really a misnomer 
when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." State v. Fisher, 
165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1,202 P.3d 937 (2009) . Recognizing that words pregnant 
with meaning carry repercussions beyond the pale of the case at hand and can 
undermine the public's confidence in the criminal justice system, both the 
National District Attorneys Association (NOAA) and the American Bar 
Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the 
phrase "prosecutorial misconduct" for intentional acts, rather than mere trial 
error. See American Bar Association Resolution 1 OOB (Adopted Aug. 9-10, 
2010), 
http://www.americanbar.org/contentldam/aba/m ig rated/leadersh ip/20 1 O/an n ual/p 
dfs/100b.authcheckdam.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014); National District 
Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of 
"Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010), 
http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial misconduct final.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 
2014). A number of appellate courts agree that the term "prosecutorial 
misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 
282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 
414,418 (Minn. App. 2009), review denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn., Mar. 
17, 2009); Commonwealth v. Tedford, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (Pa. 
2008). In responding to appellant's arguments, the State will use the phrase 
"prosecutorial error." The State urges this Court to use the same phrase in its 
opinions. 
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flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured 

the resulting prejudice. In other words, Since the defendant in the 

case at bar did not object to any of the alleged improper arguments 

at trial, he must show that: (1) no curative instruction would have 

obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the conduct 

resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting 

the jury verdict. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-761. Where improper 

argument is charged, the defense bears the burden of establishing 

the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney's comments as well as 

their prejudicial effect. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24,85,882 P.2d 

747,785 (1994). 

Instead of examining improper conduct in isolation, the court 

determines the effect of any improper conduct by examining "the 

context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence 

addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." 

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551, 555 (2011). 

The State is afforded wide latitude in making arguments to 

the jury and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences 

from the evidence. State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427-28, 

220 P.3d 1273 (2009). "In this case, the prosecutor was making 

arguments based on evidence adduced at trial. [the defendant] has 
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failed to meet his burden to establish that these comments were 

improper or that there is a substantial likelihood the jury verdict was 

affected thereby." State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 180, 892 P.2d 29, 

52 (1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1121 (1996). 

1. The Prosecutor Argued Reasonable Inferences From The 
Evidence Admitted At Trial And Thereby Did Not Deny The 
Defendant His Right To A Fair Trial. 

In the case at bar, the defendant objects to four points in the 

prosecutor's argument: 1) that the prosecutor argued the defendant 

intended to escape from the officer from the moment the officer 

pulled in behind him; 2) that the prosecutor argued the defendant 

used the small child in his car as a shield; 3) the prosecutor's use of 

the descriptive phrase 'path of destruction' to describe the vehicles 

pulled to the ditches on either side of the roadway to avoid colliding 

with the fleeing defendant; and 4) that the prosecutor referred to the 

small child in the backseat of the defendant's car as a baby. The 

defendant complains that the prosecutor argued facts that were not 

in evidence and by doing so appealed to the passions and 

prejudices of the jury. Brief of Appellant at 13-14. The defendant 

did not object during the state's closing or rebuttal closing 

arguments. The defendant now bears the burden of showing first 
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that the comments were improper and second that no curative 

instruction could have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury. 

The prosecutor's arguments were proper; they did not 

appeal to the jurors' passions and prejudices. They were 

reasonably based on the facts in this case and necessary to 

respond to the relatively unique circumstances presented by the 

defendant's behavior. 

The prosecutor argued the defendant intended to escape 

from Officer Sargent from the time the officer activated his 

emergency lights. The defendant complains that this argument is 

unnecessary and designed to make the defendant look like a 

dangerous criminal. Brief of Appellant at 15. However, in the 

unique facts of this case, the state needed to address the 

defendant's claim that he was not eluding because he had stopped 

briefly before driving away. The prosecutor's argument goes to 

prove the defendant knowingly eluded the officer and the 

momentary stop was just a step in the process of the attempt to 

elude the officer. This argument was based on a reasonable 

inference from the testimony at trial. Although the defendant pulled 

around the corner and stopped, he left his vehicle running; he 

gunned the engine when the officer first got out of his car with his 

15 



sidearm drawn; he indicated 'no' when the officer told him he was 

under arrest; and, when told to turn off his engine, the defendant 

responded, Why, then asked the officer if he was going shoot him 

and pointed out there was a child in the backseat. The defendant 

didn't speed off until the point the officer holstered his sidearm in 

response to seeing there was a small child in the backseat.2 The 

argument that the defendant had intended to get away from Officer 

Sargent from the time he pulled in behind him with his lights 

flashing could reasonably be inferred from the evidence presented 

at trial. 

The defendant also takes exception with the prosecutor's 

illustrative phrase "path of destruction" used to describe the 

roadway after the defendant had sped down it causing cars in both 

direction to dive to the side of the road to avoid colliding with him. 

The description at trial was a roadway with more than 20 cars 

pulled almost into the ditch after close call encounters often in a 

head-on circumstance with the defendant. The testimony also 

2 In his brief, the defendant argues "the record shows that Mr. 
Cargill did not drive away until after the officer pulled his weapon 
and informed him he was under arrest." This argument is not 
supported by the record. The record shows the defendant drove 
away after the officer holstered his weapon in response to the 
presence of the small child. 1 RP 46. 
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indicated the defendant was traveling at a high rate of speed when 

these vehicles were forced to get out of his way. The descriptive 

phrase is based on the evidence admitted at trial. 

The defendant also complains of the prosecutor describing 

the defendant using the presence of the small child in the backseat 

of his vehicle as a shield. This argument is also a description of the 

defendant's actions. The defendant asked the officer, "Why [should 

he turn off his engine and put his hands out the window]? Are you 

going to shoot me? There's a kid in the back seat." This results in 

the officer re-holstering his sidearm and the defendant speeding 

away. A reasonable inference from this evidence is the defendant 

intended to use the presence of the child in his car to shield him 

from police action. 

Finally, the defendant complains of the prosecutor using the 

term baby when referring to a 2-3 year old child when arguing for 

the endangerment allegation. Whether or not the term baby

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